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An glo~Saxon Droxgo rd

The earliest evidence O1C ﬁ‘ri\m— St Wilfrid, cle[:)ictcc! in the cast
Amg!o~5axon DFOWCOFCI 1S ’&\F; g';ﬁl C window of the Lac!g Chape!, may

the cemetery near the B @ﬁﬂy&ﬁ\‘%_' have established a religious
, T\
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disused railwag hﬂ@, which L(“i-é_*gﬁfmﬁ community at Drox{:orc! Auring
I his mission to the Meon \/a”eg n
¥ 681 to 686, but no evidence of

| this has yet been identified.

might have contained up to
300 burials, clating from
about 450 to 600.
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(Photo: Mr K. Ward)

Fo”owing the Anglo ~ Saxon invasions of Pritain from the late 5th century, Jutish People inhabited
Kent, the |sle of Wight) and the mainland oPPositc, where t}‘ucg established the kingcjom of the
Meonwara. Thc first historical record of Droxford itself is not until 826, when the Manor of
Drocenesgord was grantcd }39 King Egbcrt to the Frior and Monks of the Old Monastcrg at
Winchester. T his charter set out boundaries, incluéing the present Parishes of Swanmore and
Shedﬁel&, which largclg coincided with those of the Parish of Droxford until the late 9’&‘ century.

The Domes&ag Pook of 1086 describes Droxford just after the end of the Anglo~58xon Perioc!:

‘The Bishop of Winchester holds Drochenemcorcl for his Monks, and it was alwags
churchland. ]t was assessed in the time of King E_clward at 16 hides and now at 14 hides.
[Here are 16 Ploughlands, 2 in demesne, and 32 villeins and 13 borderers with 14
Ploughlands; also 6 servants, a church of the value of 20s., two mills worth 15s. 2d.; the Pro{:it
of the soil 12s. 10 acres of meadow, and woods for the pannage of 40 lﬂogs. The value in
the time of King E_&ward was, and is now £26, and when it came into Possession £20.

Egbcrt (802 ~ 8%9) [~ dward the Confessor (1042 - 1066)




Norman Droxmcorci

North Door The original Norman
church at DroxForcl

may have consisted of
a nave and Chanccl, . . .
with a semi-circular .

South Door apse at the east end.

Segments of

the original

windows can be
seen above the
south arch of
the chancel.

A}Cter the invasion of 1066, the Normans c‘isplacccj the elite of Eng!ish society, and rcPlacecl the Olcl
English language with | atin and Anglo~Norman, but took over some of the existing systems of
government, and most English lace names survived. |n a small vi”age such as Droxford evergcla life
would have changecl lcairlg slow Y, but times could be hard for ordinar9 Pcoplc. The Anglo~58xon
Chronic!e records that 1086 was ‘a very hcavg and toilsome year in Englanc! through Plaguc of cattle,
and corn and fruits were at a stand, and so great unProPitiousncss in weather as no-one can easily think.

The font s . The north  and
from the 20th _ “1 south Norman

- cloorwags are =
centuty) but to y

The chancel arch,
with its zigzag carving,
dates from about
1150. |t was raised
})3 about four feet
cluring the i gth

ccnturg.

carved with zigzags, .
tooth moul&ing,

and beaded cable
mou]ding.

a 12th century

[

Norman clesign. '

William the Conqueror (1066 - 1087) William || (1087 - 1100) Henry | (1100~ 11%5) Stephen (1135~ 1154)




F]antagenct Droxpord

To the left of the altar of
the Lad9 Chapel is a

stone niche, dating from
the late 14t century. [t
would have contained a

From the end of the 1 2th century
aisles and chapels were built, and

North
North Aisle Cl—yapc[

the Norman walls Piercec] with
arches. T}'ne chapels were
enlarged bg the early j4th

South Aisle

statue, Probab]g of the
\/irgin Marg.

centurﬁ, and the apse removec!, Lady

Chapc[

leaving a rectangu!ar chancel.

A letter of 123 ifrom the Fope to Master Peter Rusciniol of Drochoneford is the first reference to a
Rector of the Parish. Four years later Master Kuscinol aPPOiﬂtCC} avicarin his Place, being too busg to
reside in the Parish himself. |n 1284 owncrship of the manor of Droxford Passcd from the Prior of St
Swithun at Winchester to the Bishop of Winchester. When the Black Death reached England in
1348, Droxford endured its share of suﬁcering , the sales of corn dcclining from £15-20 per annum to
0019 £6 in the year 1549 due to the decline in Popu]a’cion.

The Lacly Chapel was consecrated }39 John de Drokens{:ord in 1316.
Son of a local squire, he became KeePer of the King’s Wardrobe to
E_clward ], Chance”or of the Exchcquer to E_c!warc} ”, and Bishop of
Bath & We”s. The recumbent gigure of a woman to the left of the altar
may have been part of a memorial erected bg him to his mother. |t was
Probablg removed from the church at the time of the Furitans, but was

found in a nearbg field in the i 9th century and restored to the church.

Henry [| (1154~ 1189) Richard[(1189~1199)  John(1199~1216) HHenrylll(1216 -1272) [Edward|(i272~1%07)
Edward [ (1307 ~1327)  Edward ||| (13227 ~1377)  Richard || (1377 - 1399)




j 5th Century Droxford

‘ (_anon John \/aughan, Rector of

Droxford from 1902 to 1909, carried out a
major programme of restoration in the

There are four medieval

mass dials on the south
side of the church, used
to indicate the time of
services. | wo of them are
on thejambs of the south
doorwa9 )

church, resulting in the re—c]iscover9 of many
medieval features, including a number of

Pre~R@Cormation Piscinae, which were used

for washing communion vessels.

SOme of the vi”agers may have been caught up in turbulence of the Wars of the Roses between the
houses of York and Lancas’cer c!uring the 1 5“‘ century, but other asPects of medieval life in DroxForc]
would have gone on as normal. ]t is recorded that ‘ini 467 John Bo]blclgclde, carpenter, erected within
the cur’cilage of the Manor there one new wooden garner measuring 16 feet in 1engtl'1 bg i4 feet in
width, and was Paicl for this 53s 4d <£Z.67). Jol'm Carter tiled it with slates for ¢d (21 P> and 12d (5 P)

was Paicl forits two iron Cross~hinge locks and a kcg to its great door.

Thc stonework of the

cast window of the

The arch from the
Ladg Chapcl into
the south aisle dates
from the late 15t
ccnturg, when the

chancel is in the :
Fcrpcndicular stgle ~'~
Prevalcnt in English 6y

churches at this time. aisles were widened.

Henry [V (1399 — 1413) Henry V (1413 — 1422) [Henry V[ (1422 ~ 1461) Fdward [V (1461 ~ 1470) Henry V| (1470~ 1471)
Fdward |V (i471 - 1483) [ dwardV (1483) Richard]]| (1483 - 1485)




T udor & Reformation Droxtord

The north Pi”ar of the
arch between the Ladg
' Chapcl and the south
¥l aisle has extensive
gragiti. Some of this may
date from | udor times.

UP to the time of
the Reformation,

an oPening above |

The windows

of the aisles are
& from the late
15t or earlﬂ

the Pulpit gave

access to a 16 centuries.

medieval rood loft.

The Reformation Cluring the 14th century would have had a dramatic effect on the appearance and the
rituals of St Marg & A” Saints. The break with Rome established Henry VIl as Supremc [Head of
the (Church of Englan&, and brought in English versions of the Bible. During the reign of [T dward V|
the Pook of (Common Frager aPPeared. T he rood screen and loft would have been removed, images of
the \/irgirx Marg clestrogec], and wall Paintings hidden under a coat of whitewash. Mang of the traditional
events of the church year that had marked out the calendar of rural life c]isaPPeareA.

Above the west door is a Plaquc with the
date AD1599. This Probablg refers to the -
construction of the Present tower, although

cvidence suggests that there was not a west ower

entrance here  until i1789. The original

stonework indicates that there may have

been a window in this location before then.

Henry VI (1485 ~ 1509) Henry VI (1509 ~ 1547) Edward V(1547 -~ 1553) Mary 1 (1553 ~1558) [lizabeth 1 (1558 - 1603)




Stuart & Furitaﬂ Droxford

T he oldest bells now in
the tower are a treble
of 1606, a second from
16%1 that was recast in
1899, and a third and a
tenor from 1672.

The oak Jacobean altar rails were
installed bg Dr FPreston after his re-
instatement as Kector in 1660
go”owing the Furitan interregnum,
cluring which he had been rePlaced
}:)9 an ]n&epenclent minister.

The first church registers began in 163%. |n 1642 civil war broke out between (Charles | and the
FParliamentarians. Bg March 1 647 the manor of Droxford had been taken from the Bishop of
Winchester bg FParliament and sold to a lagman, Mr Francis Allen, for £7675. [t was not returned to
the }Dishop until the restoration of (Charles || in 1660. A religious census of those over 16 years of age
in the whole Parish taken in 1676 showed there to be 345 comcorming to the (Church of Englan&, two

Fapists, and 20 Non-(onformists.

]n 1676 Arme, daughter of the famous ang!er
]saak Walton, who had Publishecl 7—/76
Com/o/cat Ang/cr twentg%hree years carlicr,
was married to Dr Wi”iam Hawkins, Kector
of Drox{:orc!. ]saak Walton would have spent

some of the remaining years of his life at the

O!C! Rectorg, and Fis}ﬁing in the Meon.

Near the font
“ . are three | atin
. memorials to
members of the
g Morley Familg,
7 who lived at the

- Manor [ouse.

James | (1603 —1625) Charles] (1625 ~ 1649) ]nterregnum (1649 —1660) (Charles|](1660-1685) _James|| (1685~ 1688)
William [|[ (1689 ~ 1702) & Mary (1689 ~ 1694)  Anne (1702 ~1714)




Georgian & \/ictorian Droxtord

o The roof of the chancel was A\ circular slate memorial on the

/ v);‘:-.-q’.‘ re_buile in Georgian Hmes ) south wall of the Ladg Chapel

: with Prcﬂecting caves. The commemorates Lewxs Stephens)
L Rector of Dromcord from 1722

" to 1746, who founded the Parish
; librarg, which is now held in the

Southampton Urxiversitg librarg.

ceiling of the nave would
l‘uave becn remodc”ed at tl‘le
same time, with its distinctive

| Plaster cornice.

Wars against the [Trench during the Gcorgian Period would have had an impact on Droxford, with the
strategic naval base of FPortsmouth not many miles away. Legcncl has it that Nelson himself stagccl at [Tir
Hi”, then belonging to the [Hamilton Family. The agricultural revolution ongoing throughout this Perioc]
resulted in an increase in Procluction, but a workhouse built in the vi”age in 1837 for 200 inmates is a
reminder of the wiclcspreacl poverty in rural areas at the time. A National School for 96 Pupils was
established in 1 835 in what is now the \/i”age Ha”.

The Pulpit is a 19th century
1900’s shows the church as it was
during the second half of the 19t

centurg. Tl’\CI"C are more PCWS, and

copy of a 15t century design,

given to Droxford 135 St
Matthew’s, Denmark Hx”
a Painted script runs round the = 7 IR where 5tephen Bridge) Rector
chancel arch. The church was very b il W of Droxgorc} from 1868 — 1886,
evangelical at the time. ! |

R
:

A photograph from the car]
D showa the hurch 2t v N

had Previouslg been minister.

George [ (1714 -1727)  (George || (1727 —1760)  (George ||| (1760~ 1820) (George |V (1820~ 18%0) William [V (18%0 - 18%7)
Victoria (1837 — 1901)




2oth Ce ntury Droxmcord

T he stained glass in the east window of
the chancel was installed as a memorial
to members of the [Julbert Family after
the window suffered bomb damage
éuring the Second World War, and

includes a striking rePrescntation of the

Annunciation.

T he oak screen !eacling to the
north chape! was clesignec{ !33

:— the eminent architect Sir

(_harles Nicholson when he
was workirxg on designs for

FPortsmouth  (Cathedral in
1955.

The railwag came to Droxford in 1903. SEOPS and local industries were more Prevalent in the first half of
the 20th century than theg are now, and the school moved to its present site in 1929. Droxford Bog
Scouts started in 1908, and Droxford (Guides in 1918. Droxford was at the centre of world affairs in
the &ags leading up to the invasion of Normandg on 6th Jur:e 1 944, when Winston (Churchill and other
allied leaders were based in a railwag carriage at Diroxford Station for four c}ags so as to be close to

(General [T isenhower and the other militarg leaders nearbg at 5out}1wic‘<. The railwag closed in 1955.

A Plaque on the south wall of
the Laclg Chape] is dedicated mm .
IN MEMORY. OF

to Neville | ovett, first Bishop NEVILLE LOVETT: BISHC

of For’csmouth, who retired to ~ WHOSE LIFE AND PUREG
WERE MADE COMPLETE!

Drroxford in 1946. Droxford  1ms parisi - moee

. LAUS DEO
became Part of the DlOCCSC — . —

of Portsmouth in 1927.

The most recent additions to
the fabric of the church are
the stained glass windows in
the NW and 5\/\/ corners.
The latter, installed to mark
the Mi”ennium in 2000, shows

Noah’s Ark in the Flood.

Fdward V][ (1901 —~1910) (George V(1910-19%6) [ dward V||| (19%6) (George V(19326 ~1952) [ lizabeth|| (1952~ )




